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Weber County Attorney’s Office 

Criminal Investigation 

Officer Involved/Deadly Force Used 

Date 10-23-20 

Investigator Steve Haney 

Premise: 7676 E 300 S 

City: Huntsville 

Agency Involved: Weber County Sheriff’s Office 

Weber County Case # 20WC31349 

Morgan County Case # 20MC5385 

CSI Case #20CS2207 

 

INTRODUCTION 
On October 23rd 2020, the Weber County Sheriff’s Office reported that there had been an 
officer involved shooting involving a member of their department along with a deputy form the 
Morgan County Sheriff’s Office. The officer involved critical incident protocol for Weber County 
was initiated.  
This force investigation was handled by the Weber County Attorney’s Office as outlined in the 

protocol. The information provided in this document is a summary of the complete and 

thorough investigation conducted by the Weber County Attorney’s Office Force Investigation 

Team. The following investigators were utilized; 

Weber County Attorney’s Office Force Investigation Team Involved: 

Investigator Steve Zaccardi- HTF Commander (WCAO) 

 

 

 

 



Overview/ Summary 

Involved: Deputy Caleb Rivera (Weber County Sheriff’s Office) 

Involved: Sgt Craig Tillet (Morgan County Sheriff’s Office) 

Subject/deceased: Cody Hadley,  

Witness: Richard Hansen 

Witness: Shannon Hansen 

Witness: Amanda Hadley 

 

 Deputy Caleb Rivera of the Weber County Sheriff’s Office was dispatched to the residence of 

 A 911 phone call had come in to Weber Consolidated Dispatch at 22:40 hrs, reporting 

there was a male with a gun outside of the house and was on top of a travel trailer. The caller also 

reported that shots had been fired by this male. 

 Deputy Rivera stopped just short of the area of this residence and waited for a backup officer. 

Sgt Craig Tillet of the Morgan County Sheriff’s Office arrived and both he and Deputy Rivera approached 

the residence.  

 A male was observed standing between two trailers in the front yard. Commands of compliance 

were yelled by Deputy Rivera to the male whose feet were visible but the rest of his body was 

concealed. 

 The male then came out form between the two trailers and started running towards Deputy 

Rivera. The male had a semi-automatic handgun in his right hand. Deputy Rivera fired rounds from his 

AR 15 department issued rifle. Sgt Tillet fired rounds with his 40 caliber department issued handgun. The 

male was struck multiple times and fell to the ground. Medical was summoned to the scene and he was 

pronounced deceased. The male was later identified as Cody Hadley, . 

 Hadley’s wife was contacted and it was learned that Hadley had been distraught and was under 

the influence of methamphetamine. 

 

Investigation 

 I was contacted by Chief Investigator Steve Zaccardi and advised that an officer involved critical 

incident had taken place in Huntsville and we were being summoned to investigate the incident per 

Weber County Protocol. 

 I arrived on scene and checked in with the Utah Highway Patrol Officer who was scene security. I 

then entered into the inner crime perimeter. I spoke with Investigator Zaccardi who gave me a synopsis 

on the incident. A deceased white male was lying face up on the grass of the residence. He had 

basketball type shorts on but no shirt. I was advised that medical did not cut anything off of him and 



that was how he looked when he was first observed by the complainant. The male suspect had not been 

identified at this point.  

 I was advised that there was two deputies involved in this incident. Deputy Caleb Rivera of the 

Weber County Sheriff’s Office and Sgt Craig Tillet of the Morgan County Sheriff’s Office. Richard and 

Shannon Hansen were the people who owned the property and had made the 911 phone call were 

inside the residence. Investigator Zaccardi went to speak with them while I met with CSI personnel who 

advised me of what had been identified so far.  

 

 The residence of  in on the corner lot of  There were two trailers 

parked on a gravel driveway in front of the residence. One was a travel trailer and the other was an 

enclosed equipment type trailer. There was also a vehicle parked in front of the two trailers. The gravel 

driveway was circular going from  around to connect to   

 A Weber County Sheriff’s Office patrol truck was parked partially on the front lawn of the 

residence with its rear wheels still on  The patrol vehicle was facing the residence and had the 

overhead “take down” lights on illuminating towards the trailers in the driveway. This would be Deputy 

Rivera’s vehicle. 

 A Morgan County Sheriff’s patrol SUV was parked northeast of the residence on  facing 

south. This would be Sgt Tillet’s vehicle. See photo below. 

 

7700 E 

300 S 

7676 S 300 S 
Sgt Tillet’s 

vehicle 

Dep Rivera’s vehicle 



Nearby where Sgt Tillet’s patrol vehicle was parked were five empty .40 caliber bullet casings 

that were found on the ground. There were seven empty .223 bullet casings near Deputy Rivera’s patrol 

vehicle. Cpl Slater of the Weber County Sheriff’s Office advised me that Dep Rivera had deployed his 

patrol rifle in this incident. Dep Rivera retained the rifle and took it with him to the Fire Station. 

 

 

Processing the Deputies 

 

 I arrived at the Fire Station with CSI Gerard. Both Sgt Tillet and Deputy Rivera were there. I first 

met with Sgt Tillet who was accompanied by Sgt Call of the Morgan County Sheriff’s Office and 

explained the process of the investigation to him. CSI Gerard then photographed Sgt Tillet of how he 

looked at the time of the incident. CSI Gerard then filmed me remove Sgt Tillet’s duty weapon from his 

holster and remove the magazine from the firearm. I pulled back the slide and one live round was 

chambered and removed. I then placed the chambered round on a table and then counted 9 more live 

unfired rounds in the magazine and also placed them on the table. CSI Grogan took photographs of the 

serial number to the Glock 40 caliber that had been issued to Sgt Tillet by the Morgan County Sheriff’s 

Office. The gun was then collected into a gun box and the ammunition was also collected into an 

evidence bag and marked. 

 

 

 CSI Gerard then video recorded me remove both spare magazines from Sgt Tillet’s duty belt. I 

counted both magazines out and placed them on the table. Both were verified as having 14 unfired .40 

caliber rounds inside of them. CSI Gerard collected the ammunition and spare magazines and they were 

placed into evidence bags. I also collected Sgt Tillet’s body camera from his person. Sgt Call advised me 

that the camera needed to taken to the Morgan County Sheriff’s Office to be downloaded along with the 

dash camera from Sgt Tillet’s patrol vehicle. They both automatically download into their system when 

they pull into the parking lot of the Sheriff’s Office. Sgt Tillet’s vehicle was still on scene and would need 

to remain there until CSI was through processing and scanning. 

 

 Below is a photograph of Sgt Tillet and how he was dressed at the time of the incident.  

 

Sgt Craig Tillet 

 



  

 
Glock 22 Gen 4, .40 caliber 
Serial Number BADZ872 
Department issued with TAC light attached 

 

 I then met with Deputy Rivera who was accompanied by his FOP Attorney JC Jensen. CSI Gerard 

took photos of Deputy Rivera and how he looked at the time of this incident. CSI Gerard then video 

recorded as I took his Colt AR 15 rifle and removed the magazine that was inside of it. I pulled back the 

Sgt Craig Tillet 
Morgan County Sheriff’s Office 
22 years law enforcement 



slide and one live .223 round fell out of the chamber. I then counted the remaining unfired rounds in the 

magazine. It totaled 20 unfired .223 rounds in the magazine. Lt Butler of the Weber County Sheriff’s 

Office had advised me that it is Weber County Sheriff’s Office policy to carry magazines in the patrol 

rifles “two down” from capacity. Deputy Rivera said the magazine was a 30 round capacity magazine so 

by policy should have been carrying 28 rounds. This matched the seven expended .223 cartridges that 

had been identified at the scene by CSI. 

 I then removed a Deputy Rivera’s 9mm Glock 17 Gen 5 from its holster. I removed the magazine 

and pulled back the slide. One unfired 9mm round was ejected from the chamber. I then counted 15 

rounds in the magazine. 

 I removed the first spare magazine from Deputy Rivera’s magazine pouch and counted 16 

rounds of unfired 9mm rounds. I removed the second magazine from the magazine pouch and counted 

16 rounds of unfired 9mm rounds. Lt Butler had also advised me that it was Weber County Sheriff’s 

Office policy to carry all magazines in their duty sidearm at 16 rounds. 

 Deputy Rivera’s body camera was also obtained. Below is a photograph of how Deputy Rivera 

looked at the time of the incident. 

Deputy Caleb Rivera 

  

Deputy Caleb Rivera 
Weber County Sheriff’s Office 
3 years law enforcement 
 



 
Colt AR15 
Serial Number LBD023689 
Department issued with TAC light mounted 

 

 

 

Processing the Scene 

 I went back to the scene and CSI was still in the process of FARO 3D scanning the area. WCSO 

Search and Rescue had arrived and made available their drone to fly above the scene and take overhead 

photographs.  

 All items were marked and photographed in place. Once the 3D scanning was finished the scene 

was processed with photographs of the items marked and then they were documented and collected.  

 The following items were marked and listed as; 

MS01- Bullet casing, Speer 40 S&W 
MS02- Bullet casing, Speer 40 S&W 
MS03- Bullet casing, Speer 40 S&W 
MS04- Bullet casing, Speer 40 S&W 
MS05- Bullet casing, Speer 40 S&W 
(All the above bullet casings were located near Sgt Tillet’s patrol vehicle, photo below) 

 
MS06- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 
MS07- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 



MS08- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 
MS09- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 
MS10- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 
MS11- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 
MS12- Bullet casing, Speer .223 Remington 16 
(All the above bullet casings were located near Deputy Rivera’s vehicle, photo below) 

 
MS13- Handgun, Springfield XDM 40 cal, s/n MG170901, with magazine and 7 cartridges of 40 caliber 
Winchester S&W bullets. 
(This handgun was located on the front lawn nearby the body of Cody Hadley, photo below) 

 
MS14- Piece of trailer 
MS15- Bullet casing, Winchester 40 S&W 
MS16- Cellphone 
MS17- Bulley jacket 
MS18- Bullet casing, Winchester 40 S&W 
MS19- Bullet casing, Winchester 40 S&W 
MS20- Bullet casing, Winchester 40 S&W 
MS21- Bullet casing, Winchester 40 S&W 
MS22- Fragment 
MS23- Bullet casing, Winchester 40 S&W 
MS24- Flashlight 
MS34- Swab of blood on outside back step of trailer 
MS35- Fragment from inside trailer 
MS36- Fragment from inside trailer 
MS37- Fragment from inside trailer 
MS38- Fragment from inside trailer 
MS39- Fragment from inside trailer 
MS40- Piece of trailer door 
MS41- Tobacco pouch from inside trailer 
MS42- Piece of broken electrical outlet cover from trailer 
MS43- Fragment/slug 



MS44- Slug 
MS45- Swab of tobacco spit 
MS46- Swab of blood 
MS56- Swab of blood 
MS57- Swab of blood 
JF01- Bullet casing Winchester 40 cal S&W 
JF02- Bullet fragment 
JF03- Bullet casing Winchester 40 cal S&W 
 
 The trailer that was parked in the driveway had numerous bullet holes in it. There were eight 
bullet casings that matched the cartridges in the handgun near Hadley’s body. These casing were 
located around the trailer and it appeared the door had been damaged by bullets to gain access. 
 
 

Witness Accounts from the Hansen’s 

 Investigator Zaccardi spoke to me about the Hansen’s statements and how they had signed a 

consent to search for the travel trailer and surrounding property. They had told Investigator Zaccardi 

that they had been inside their homes when they heard a couple loud banging type noises outside and 

did not know what was happening. Richard Hansen went outside to find this unknown male attempting 

to make access to his trailer. Richard said the male was screaming about someone being inside the 

trailer. The male had a handgun and no shirt on. He seemed to Richard to be under the influence of 

drugs or alcohol. 

 Shannon Hansen called 911 and requested the Sheriff’s Office respond and relayed to dispatch 

that the male had a handgun and shots had been heard from inside their residence. Shannon at one 

point looked out the window and saw the unknown male climbing the ladder that leads to the roof of 

the trailer. 

 Richard did not confront the male and stayed near the entrance to his house and watched the 

male acting erratically. When deputies arrived, Richard went into the house. They heard gun fire soon 

after the deputies arrived. Neither Shannon nor Richard recognized this male on their property and did 

not know what he was doing there.  

 The Hansen’s said the doors to the trailer had been locked and the trailer was closed and 

winterized.  

 

Identification of Cody Hadley 

The Medical Examiner Investigator Jeremy Brown arrived on scene. I met with him and gave the 

description of what had been learned so far about this incident. The body of the male was examined and 

the contents of his pockets were removed. The male had a wallet that contained a Utah Driver License 

identifying him as Cody Hadley . It also listed Hadley as being a resident of Huntsville at 

the address of  which was not far from the crime scene. 



Investigator Zaccardi and Deputy Lewis went to this residence and found the rear door to the 

house was left open. Investigator Zaccardi and Dep Lewis knocked and yelled into the residence with no 

answer. A check into the law enforcement database listed an Amanda Hadley as Cody Hadley’s spouse 

and a resident of . Her phone number was attempted but there was no answer. 

I decided that entry should be made into the residence due to Hadley’s erratic behavior and 

check on the wellbeing of Amanda. Investigator Zaccardi and I met with more deputies from the Sheriff’s 

Office and we went into the residence. I went downstairs and found Amanda asleep in the northwest 

basement bedroom. I had a hard time getting Amanda to wake up and register that she understood law 

enforcement was in her residence and that she needed to speak with us. Amanda finally came to and I 

told her that we meet her upstairs. Amanda came upstairs and spoke with me and Investigator Zaccardi. 

This conversation was recorded by my digital audio recorder. 

As we were making entry and looking for anyone in the house, I observed the house to be in 

total disrepair and had not been cleaned in some time. There was clothing and various other items on 

the floor with pathways in the hallway to each room. Upstairs in the kitchen there was dirty dishes with 

rotten food caked on them on every space on the counters and middle islands. 

I explained to Amanda about who we were and apologized for being there like that. Amanda 

seemed dazed and possibly under the influence of narcotics. Amanda asked about Hadley but I did not 

tell her what had happened but advised her that Hadley had been involved in an incident with deputies 

and asked Amanda if there was a reason that he would have not been at his house. Amanda said they 

had been in a fight. Amanda then disclosed that she had been cheating on Hadley and was in love with 

someone else. Amanda said this has been going on for a while and she finally told Hadley last night. 

I asked when the last time Amanda had seen him was. Amanda said it was about 0200 hrs. I 

asked what Hadley was doing when she saw him last and Amanda said he was “freaking out” and 

thought the person she was cheating with was outside of their house and he was going to “kill him”. 

I asked Amanda if Hadley was under the influence of something. Amanda said Hadley had been 

drinking and smoking marijuana and then admitted that Hadley had snorted methamphetamine all in 

the hours leading up to this. Amanda again told me that Hadley had thought that the guy she had been 

cheating with was sneaking around outside of their home and that Hadley was going to hurt him. I asked 

Amanda if she knew Hadley had a gun with him and she said she did and saw him leave the house with a 

silver colored handgun. 

I then told Amanda that Hadley had been killed in a confrontation with deputies after he fired 

bullets into a trailer at a nearby residence.  

Amanda was surprised and upset but was still able to speak with us. Investigator Zaccardi asked 

Amanda what was the name of the person that she told Hadley she was cheating on him with. Amanda 

said it was “Alan” who lives in Layton. Amanda repeated that she told Hadley that she was cheating on 

him with a guy named Alan and Hadley thought this Alan was outside so he went looking for him. 

We asked if she and Hadley had any children. Amanda said they had three that were currently at 

Hadley’s sister’s house in North Ogden. I asked Amanda how long she and Hadley had been using meth. 

Amanda said Hadley had relapsed into meth use just last night and had not used since 2015 but “overdid 

it”.  



I had Amanda got downstairs and retrieve her cellular phone so she could call her family. 

Amanda then could not think of who to call. I obtained Hadley’s sister’s phone number. I called 

Stephanie and made contact due to the fact that the children were there and Amanda was obviously 

under the influence. I asked if family could be called to be with Amanda. Stephanie said she would call 

Amanda’s mother.  

Before we left, Amanda said she should have called the police last night but she was scared that 

Hadley would get in trouble. 

 

Sgt Tillet’s Dash Camera 

It should be noted that there is not a time stamp reference from this footage. All the times 

reference in this report comes from the time counter starting at 1, when Sgt Tillet tuned his emergency 

overhead lights on which activated the camera. It should also be noted that there is no sound for the first 

minute of the video which is a feature of the camera where it starts recording back 30 seconds after it is 

activated. 

 

(00:01) Sgt Tillet is driving and the road ahead of him can be seen. 

(01:00) The sound is activated in the video. Sgt Tillet is driving northbound over Trappers Loop Hwy. 

(06:18) Sgt Tillet reaches the north end of Trappers Loop Hwy and turns east. 

(07:45) Sgt Tillet’s vehicle turns west on 100 S in Huntsville. 

(07:49) Deputy Rivera’s vehicle can be seen ahead on 100 S and turns south on 7700 E. 

(08:02) Sgt Tillet follows Deputy Rivera south on 7700 E. 

(08:20) Deputy Rivera’s vehicle makes a U-turn and the overhead “take down” lights come on. 



 

 

 

 

(08:24) Sgt Tillet pulls over to the right hand side of 7700 E and stops. 

 

(08:40) Deputy Rivera can be seen next to his vehicle shining a flashlight towards a travel trailer. Sgt 

Tillet has his spotlight shining on the area of the trailer. 

(08:50) Two feet appear in view under the trailer. 



 

 

(08:54) The feet start moving forward toward the east and begin to pick up speed. 

(08:56) A shirtless Cody Hadley emerges forward at a run and starts towards Deputy Rivera. 

(08:57) A yell of “stop!” can be heard. 

(08:58) A muzzle flash can be seen coming from next to Deputy Rivera’s vehicle. Hadley is not pictured 

due to the silver car obstructing the view. 

 

 

Feet 

Muzzle flash 



(08:59) Hadley comes back into view as he has advanced closer to Deputy Rivera. Hadley’s left hand up 

at the elbow and he stops running. 

 

(09:00) Hadley moves to the right and his left arm comes down.  

 

(09:01) Hadley jumps in the air and is flailing his arms as he is moving to his right. 



 

 

 

(09:02) Hadley jumps to his right and out of view of the camera due to the silver vehicle’s obstruction. 

(09:03) The last shot is heard. 

(09:06) Sgt Tillet can be heard calling dispatch and saying, “shots fired”. 

(09:17) Sgt Tillet has no moved forward and is at the passenger side of Deputy Rivera’s vehicle. 

(09:34) A second Weber County patrol vehicle arrives on scene.  

(10:03) Sgt Tillet moves into the front yard and covers the trailer area. Deputy Rivera is watching west. 

(10:28) The deputies move forward towards the trailer. 

(15:11) Ambulance arrives 

 For the rest of the video, Deputies and Troopers set up a perimeter of crime scene tape and 

secure the area. The video ends at 47:54. 

 

Sgt Tillet’s Body Camera 

It should be noted that there is not a time stamp reference from this footage. All the times 

reference in this report comes from the time counter starting at 1, when Sgt Tillet tuned on this body 

attached camera. It should also be noted that Sgt Tillet was wearing a jacket that covered the camera for 

the majority of this recording but the audio captured the incident. 



(00:14) Radio traffic can be heard inside of Sgt Tillet’s patrol vehicle. 

(00:27) Sgt Tillet exits his vehicle. 

(00:32) It is visible that Sgt Tillet had his duty weapon in his right hand. 

(00:40) Sgt Tillet calls to Deputy Rivera, “how many you got over there?” 

(00:45) Sgt Tillet announces to Deputy Rivera that he can see a person’s feet under the trailer and that 

he has shorts on. 

(00:54) Sgt Tillet yells, “hands up!” 

(00:56) Sgt Tillet can be heard yelling, “gun!”   

(00:56) Shots can be heard. 

(01:01) The last shot can be heard. 

(01:04) Sgt Tillet calls out to dispatch, “shots fired”, and then requests medical. 

(01:27) Sgt Tillet asks Deputy Rivera if the suspect is down. 

(01:31) Sgt Tillet can be heard saying, “There is the gun right there.” 

(01:55) Sgt Tillet’s coat moves and the trailer can be seen as Sgt Tillet is facing it. 

(02:00) Sgt Tillet makes an announcement to anyone else to come out from the trailer. 

(02:26) Sgt Tillet moves towards the trailer and walks to the north side of it while the area is searched. 

(02:59) Sgt’s jacket covers the camera again. 

(05:00) Video comes back on and Sgt Tillet is guarding Hadley who is handcuffed on the front lawn. 

(05:36) Medical arrives on scene. 

(06:25) Sgt Tillet removes the handcuffs from Hadley. 

(10:46) Sgt Tillet stays with medical personnel while other deputies clear the area of a potential second 

suspect. 

(15:20) Sgt Tillet walks to his vehicle and removes himself from the scene.  

 Sgt Tillet stays with his vehicle until the video ends at 25:55 

  

 

Deputy Rivera’s Body Camera Footage 

This footage is from the body camera attached to Deputy Rivera’s uniform. It is a WatchGuard 

brand body camera and has a date and time counter at the top of the footage. The reference in this 



report will be from that time counter. It should be noted that the first 15 seconds there is no audio. This 

is a manufacture setting. 

(00:01) The camera is on, Deputy Rivera is behind the wheel of his patrol vehicle and his computer 

screen can be seen to the right. 

(00:15) The audio starts recording. 

(00:21) Deputy Rivera relays into his radio that he has heard two shots fired. Dispatch responds and 

confirms that the 911 caller also reported hearing two shots fired from outside the residence. 

(01:00) Deputy Rivera is advised that his backup is on the way and he is waiting. 

(01:12) Sgt Tillet can be heard on the radio that his has arrived on scene. 

(01:32) Deputy Rivera speaks with Sgt Tillet over the radio. Sgt Tillet responds that he is pulling up 

behind Deputy Rivera and will follow him into the scene. 

(02:32) Deputy Rivera has driven to the residence and has pulled in front of the house with his lights 

shininh on the trailer. Deputy Rivera exits his vehicle and his patrol rifle can be seen. 

 

(02:33) Deputy Rivera yells out “Sheriff’s Office!” and commands anyone in the trailer to show 

themselves and come out with their hands up. 

(02:51) Deputy Rivera yells to Sgt Tillet that he does not see anyone. 

(02:53) Deputy Rivera calls out that he has seen someone between the trailers. 

(02:54) Two feet are visible under the trailer. 



 

 

(02:55) Deputy Rivera yells out, “come out with your hands up!” 

(02:59) A shirtless Cody Hadley emerges out from between the trailers and turns towards Deputy Rivera 

as Rivera yells, “hands up!” 

 

(03:01) Hadley starts to run towards Deputy Rivera. A gun can be seen in Hadley’s right hand. Deputy 

Rivera screams, “Drop the gun!” 

Feet 



 

(03:02) Hadley continues to advance towards Deputy Rivera. Hadley’s right arm comes forward with the 

gun in his hand. Hadley’s left arm comes forward and they come together in a shooting stance. Deputy 

Rivera again yells. “drop the gun!” 

 

(03:02) A muzzle flash can be seen coming from Deputy Rivera’s rifle as he fires for the first time. 

Gun 



 

(03:03) Hadley stops and raises both arms and exposes his chest with the gun in his right hand. 

 

 

(03:04) Hadley hops to his right and the gun can still be seen in his right hand. Deputy Rivera fires again 



(03:05) Hadley is still moving to his left and his right arm is coming up as Deputy Rivera fires again. 

Deputy Rivera again yells, “drop the gun.” 

  

(03:06) Haldey starts to fall as Deputy Rivera fires again. 

(03:07) Hadley falls down onto his face and right side. He does not move. 

(03:09) Deputy Rivera advises dispatch on his radio that shots have been fired and there is one male 

down. 

(03:17) Deputy Rivera yells out to anyone else in the trailer to come out now. 

(03:34) Deputy Rivera moves to his left and is covering Hadley as he talsk to Sgt Tillet. Deputy Rivera 

says that he does not see the gun. 

(03:38) Sgt Tillet tells Deputy Rivera that he has sight of the gun on the grass. 

(03:50) Deputy Lewis arrives on scene and is advancing on Hadley to handcuff him. 

(04:00) Deputy Lewis is securing Hadley and Deputy Rivera talks to Sgt Tillet about not seeing anyone 

else in the trailer area. 

(04:30) Deputy Rivera and Deputy Lewis advance towards the trailer. 

(05:00) Deputies post up on the trailer doors and then clear the trailer of any other suspects. 

(06:46) Deputy Rivera and Deputy Lewis find the second trailer is locked and secured. 

(07:35) Deputies start clearing the property around the residence. 

(09:10) A voice tells Deputy Rivera that there might be another outstanding suspect in the area.    

(10:00) Contact is made with the occupants of the residence. (The Hansen’s) 



(12:14) The Hansen’s exit their residence. Deputy Rivera meet them. 

(12:50) Deputy Rivera enters into the residence with other officers and Deptuies to clear the house. 

(17:06) The residence is “clear”. 

(18:20) Deputy Lewis speaks with the Hansen’s and they talk about hearing shots being fired in their 

front yard and that is why they called 911. They also saw a male on top of their trailer. 

(19:49) Deputy Rivera retrives crime scene tape to close off the area. 

(24:57) Deputy Rivera speaks with Cpl Slater who relives him from the scene. 

(27:25) Deputy Rivera still assists in getting the crime scene perimeter set up. 

(30:13) Cpl Lewis asks Deputy Rivera if he fired. Deputy Rivera says, “several times”. 

(31:25) Deputy Rivera gets back into his vehicle to retrive a crime scene log. 

(33:56) Deputy Rivera is relived from the crime scene and ends the recording. 

 

Dash camera footage from Deputy Rivera’s vehicle 

 This footage is from the dash camera that is mounted inside of Deputy Rivera’s Ford F150 patrol 

truck. There is not a time counter on this video, therefore the time reference will be from zero when 

Deputy Rivera’s camera was activated. It should also be noted that there is no sound on this footage for 

the first 30 seconds. This is a factory seeting where the footage goes back 30 seconds when the camra is 

activated but no sound is captured.  

(00:01) Deputy Rivera’s vehicle is moving. 

(00:29) Emergency lights turn on. 

(00:30) Sound for the footage turns on. 

(00:35) Siren is audible. 

(03:06) Deputy Rivera is still traveling and is in Eden. He passes eastbound through intersection at Hwy 

158 and Hwy 162. 

(04:14) Deputy Rivera continues to travel with lights and siren as he turns eastbound onto 1900 N. 

(05:37) The siren shuts off. Deputy Rivera has made the turn onto 7100 E and traveling southbound. 

(06:00) The emergency lights turn off. 

(07:52) Deputy Rivera reaches . 

(08:02) Deputy Rivera pulls over on the right side of 100 S and parks. 

(08:20) The sound of a rifle being cycled can heard. 



(09:13) A police radio can be heard. A dispatcher is stating there could be two suspects in the trailer. 

Deputy Rivera responds that he understood. 

(10:40) A gunshot can be heard coming from a distance. 

(10:55) Another gunshot can be heard. 

(11:00) Deputy Rivera reports hearing shots being fired. Dispatch responds that the complainant also 

reported hearing shots being fired. 

(11:08) The radio is cleared for emergency traffic only. 

(11:52) Sgt Tillet is heard on the radio advising dispatch that he has arrived in the area. 

(12:11) Deputy Rivera and Sgt Tillet converse on the radio and Deputy Rivera tells him to follow him into 

the scene. 

(12:36) Deputy Rivera turns onto 7700 E and drives southbound. 

(13:05) Deputy Rivera arrives at the residence and makes a U-turn and the vehicle is now facing the 

trailer. The door to the trailer is open. Lights from the patrol truck light up the area. 

 

(13:15) A slam of a door is heard and Deputy Rivera starts calling out, “Sheriff’s Office!” 

 

(13:34) Feet of a person can be seen under the enclosed trailer. (Red arrow below) 

 

(13:38) The feet stop moving for a moment then start to move forward. Deputy Rivera is yelling 

commands for the person to show themselves with their hands up. 

Feet 



(13:40) Hadley emerges from between the two trailers and starts to run towards Deputy Rivera. There is 

gun in his right hand. 

 

(13:41) Hadley continues to advance forward. Deputy Rivera is screaming, “drop the gun!”           

Hadley’s arms come together into a shooting position as he raises the gun towards Deputy Rivera. 

 

 

(13:42) Deputy Rivera fires twice, Hadley’s arms drop to his side and then come up extended out. The 

gun is still in his right hand. 

 

 



(13:44) Shots are being fired but Hadley appears to not be hit and moves to the left part of the screen. 

The gun is still in his right hand. 

 

(13:45) Hadley jumps in the air with both feet towards the left side of the screen. Gun still in his right 

hand. Deputy Rivera is still yelling, “drop the gun!”                                                                                                

A shot is heard and the gun flips backwards behind Hadley and lands on the grass. 

 

(13:46) Two shots are fired close together and Hadley starts to fall to the ground. 

 

(13:50) Sgt Tillet calls out, “shots fired” on the radio. 

(13:57) Deputy Rivera calls out to any other person in the trailer to come out. 

(14:03) Sgt Tillet can be seen on the right side of Deputy Rivera’s vehicle as he has moved up closer. 

(14:09) Sgt Tillet is trying to watch the trailer and also call to Deputy Rivera id he has Hadley covered. 

(14:14) Deputy Rivera yells out that Hadley is “down” but he cannot see the gun. 

(14:22) Sgt Tillet moves forward and reports that he can see the gun on the grass. 

Gun 



(14:30) Cpl Lewis can be seen moving in and handcuffs Hadley. 

(14:52) Sgt Tillet moves to the east and yells out towards the trailer giving commands to anyone else 

who could be in the trailer. 

(15:11) Cpl Lewis, Deputy Rivera, and Sgt Tillet all move towards the trailer to clear it. 

(15:22) Cpl Slater can be heard on the radio that he wants medical to respond to the house and asks for 

a helicopter. 

(22:00) An ambulance is seen arriving on  and drives past Sgt Tillet’s vehicle. 

(22:58) Medical cancels the helicopter. 

(27:50) Sgt Tillet walks to his vehicle.  

 The scene is secured with crime scene tape and all personnel remove themselves from the inner 

perimeter. It remains this way for the remainder of the footage. (01:34:28) 

 It should be noted that Hadley emerged from between to two trailers at 13:40. The first shot can 

be heard at 13:42 and the last shot is heard at 13:46. During that time, Deputy Rivera shouted the 

command for Hadley to “drop the gun” three times. 

 

Interview of Sgt Craig Tillet 

 On 10-27-20, Sgt Craig Tillet came to the Weber County Attorney’s Office and met with myself 

and Investigator Zaccardi to give his statement. I thanked Sgt Tillet for coming in and then asked him 

some preliminary questions about his history in law enforcement. Sgt Tillet worked for the Weber 

County Sheriff’s Office for twenty years before retiring. Sgt Tillet then came back into law enforcement 

after a year and started working for the Morgan County Sheriff’s Office for the past two years and was 

recently promoted to the rank of Sergeant. Sgt Tillet is working in the patrol division and was assigned to 

work the 6 pm to 4 am shift on 10-23-20. 

 Sgt Tillet said he heard the dispatched call to Deputy Rivera come over the radio. Weber County 

and Morgan County share the same radio frequency. Sgt Tillet said he heard that there had been shots 

fired and Deputy Rivera’s backup deputy was coming from 12th St and  in the lower valley. He 

was in the Mountain Green area and close to Trappers Loop Hwy. Sgt Tillet said he relayed to dispatch 

that he would be closer than the Weber County deputy and started to go over Trappers Loop Hwy to get 

to Huntsville. 

 Sgt Tillet said he activated his emergency lights and siren and hurried to get there. He heard 

Deputy Rivera say he was going to wait for backup before going in and was staging at . Sgt 

Tillet said he turned off Trappers Loop and turned off his lights and siren so not to alert the suspect who 

had the gun to police presence. Sgt Tillet reached  and saw a Weber County vehicle 

ahead of him. Sgt Tillet announced over the radio that it was him pulling up and the Weber County 

Deputy started driving towards the residence. Sgt Tillet followed. 



 Sgt Tillet said as they approached the residence, Deputy Rivera made a “button hook” maneuver 

as they pulled up to the house. Sgt Tillet pulled to the side of  and stopped at the other corner of 

the property.  

 Sgt Tillet then recalled that just prior to his arrival, Deputy Rivera announced over the radio that 

he heard two gunshots as he was waiting for Sgt Tillet to arrive. 

 Sgt Tillet said he exited his vehicle and described how he was looking at it from the front but just 

enough at an angle that he could see down the right side of the trailer. Sgt Tillet said he then saw legs 

under the trailer from a person standing on the other side. Sgt Tillet said the person had shorts with a 

red stripe on them. Sgt Tillet said he started yelling at Deputy Rivera that there was a person coming 

towards him.  

 Sgt Tillet said a male came out from behind the trailer and “fixated” on Deputy Rivera and 

advanced straight towards him. Sgt Tillet described the suspects actions as “aggressive’ and was “flailing 

his arms” and was running at Deputy Rivera. Sgt Tillet at that moment saw the suspect had a gun in his 

hand.  

 Sgt Tillet at this time started firing his weapon at the suspect. Sgt Tillet said he could hear 

Deputy Rivera also firing his weapon but does not know who fired first. Sgt Tillet said suspect suddenly 

stopped and then fell to the ground. They then advanced up on the suspect as he laid on the grass.  

 Other deputies started to show up and Sgt Tillet said the suspect was handcuffed. The trailer 

and the house were cleared of any other unknown participants. The property owners were save in their 

house. Sgt Tillet said he stayed near Hadley’s body while medical arrived and accessed him. 

 I asked Sgt Tillet when he saw Hadley run at Deputy Rivera with the gun in his hand, if he 

believed that Hadley had the intent to harm him. Sgt Tillet replied, “Absolutely”. Sgt Tillet also recalled 

that the handgun that Hadley had in his possession was a tan color. 

 Sgt Tillet also said that when Hadley started to run at Deputy Rivera, “he closed the gap” 

between them really fast and Sgt Tillet said he was “scared shitless” for Deputy Rivera. Sgt Tillet believed 

that he had to take immediate action to save Deputy Rivera’s life. 

 I asked Sgt Tillet if he saw Hadley raise the gun towards Deputy Rivera, Sgt Tillet described that 

Hadley was waving his arms all over the place as he quickly advanced towards Deputy Rivera and Sgt 

Tillet could see that he clearly had a gun in his hand. 

 Sgt Tillet spoke of getting his front sight towards Hadley and firing as he was advancing. Sgt Tillet 

remembered thinking, “Don’t hit Rivera”.  

 I asked if Hadley had said or yelled anything. Sgt Tillet said he did not remember anything being 

said by Haldey but recalled Deputy Rivera yelling something at him similar to “drop the gun”. 

 I then inquired to Sgt Tillet if he knew Cody Hadley. Sgt Tillet said he did not. I mentioned that 

Hadley had lived on 100 S and asked if he recalled having any interaction with Hadley when he was 

working for the Weber County Sheriff’s Office. Sgt Tillet said no. 

 I asked Sgt Tillet about when he said he was scared and to explain that. Sgt Tillet said when 

Hadley took off towards Deputy Rivera, he was scared for Deputy Rivera and thought that Hadley didn’t 



even know Sgt Tillet was there. Sgt Tillet also spoke of being aware that he needed to make his rounds 

“count”. Sgt Tillet felt that the rounds he fired were in the defense of Deputy Rivera’s life. 

 Investigator Zaccardi inquired about hearing the initial call on the radio and Sgt Tillet confirmed 

that Weber County and Morgan County are on the same frequency. Investigator Zaccardi asked about 

seeing Hadley for the first time and telling Deputy Rivera that he could see someone. Sgt Tillet explained 

that he could see legs under the trailer and knew someone was on the other side standing there. They 

then moved forward and Sgt Tillet could see Hadley as he emerged from behind the trailer. Sgt Tillet 

yelled to Deputy Rivera that someone was coming out and they had shorts on. 

 Sgt Tillet was asked about if he had a flashlight in his hand. Sgt Tillet believed he had his 

flashlight in his left hand when Hadley emerged. Sgt Tillet had a TAC light mounted on his weapon but 

did not recall turning it on. Sgt Tillet believed he fired his weapon with his flashlight in his left hand. Sgt 

Tillet could not remember if he used the left hand as support as he was trained to do and then did not 

recall if he even had his flashlight out or not. 

 Sgt Tillet said he felt that he missed Hadley with the first two rounds that he fired. Sgt Tillet said 

he thought he saw something hit the ground but was not sure. Sgt Tillet said his third, fourth, and fifth 

rounds were fired as Hadley stopped advancing but Sgt Tillet did not know if his shots had hit Hadley or 

not.  

 Sgt Tillet said Hadley fell to the ground and he and Deputy Rivera stopped firing and moved up 

closer to him. Sgt Tillet said Deputy Rivera was asking if he could see Hadley’s gun. Sgt Tillet quickly 

scanned the grass and could see the gun on the ground a few feet away from Hadley. 

 We then played the footage from Sgt Tillet’s dash camera video. Sgt Tillet watched the video 

and realized that he did in fact have his flashlight out in his left hand but still did not recall doing it. Sgt 

Tillet had nothing further to add to his statement. 

 

Interview of Deputy Caleb Rivera 

 On 10-28-20, Deputy Caleb Rivera came to the Weber County Attorney’s Office to meet with 

me. Deputy Rivera was accompanied by his legal representation, FOP Attorney JC Jensen. 

 I started by asking Deputy Rivera how long he had been in Law enforcement, Deputy Rivera said 

it was three years and all with the Weber County Sheriff’s Office. I then had Deputy Rivera tell me what 

happened in Huntsville on the 23rd. 

 Deputy Rivera said he was patrolling the Eden area and was notified by dispatch of a call for 

service at about 2230- 2245 hrs. The reported call was about a male with a gun at a residence in 

Huntsville. Deputy Rivera said he activated his emergency lights and siren and responded to the area. 

The 911 caller told dispatch that shots had been fired but it was unknown if they had hit anything. 

 Deputy Rivera said his backup was enroute from the lower valley but a deputy from Morgan 

County was also on their way over Trappers Loop. Deputy Rivera stopper short of the scene and waited 

for backup. While he was waiting, Deputy Rivera heard “a couple” of gunshots coming from the 



direction of the residence. Dispatch advised Deputy Rivera that the 911 caller reported that there were 

shots fired. Deputy Rivera deployed his patrol rifle at that point. 

 Deputy Rivera said the Morgan County deputy arrived and followed him into the area of the 

residence. Deputy Rivera said he maneuvered his vehicle around to face the trailer in the driveway. 

Deputy Rivera said the Morgan unit stopped and was at a ninety degree angle to his right. 

 Deputy Rivera said he could not see anyone at first but then the Morgan deputy called out that 

there was somebody between the trailers. Deputy Rivera said he then saw feet below the utility trailer 

that was parked next to the travel trailer. Deputy Rivera stated he called out and gave commands for 

that person to come out with his hands up. 

 Deputy Rivera said a male matching the suspect description from the 911 caller stepped out 

from between the trailer and started towards him. Deputy Rivera said he clearly saw a handgun in the 

suspect’s hand.  

 Deputy Rivera said he started yelling commands for the suspect to drop the gun. The suspect 

started to run at Deputy Rivera. Deputy Rivera said he raised his rifle and fired a couple of rounds and 

then reassessed. Deputy Rivera said the male was still advancing towards him so he fired more rounds at 

the suspect. Deputy Rivera said the male then fell forward onto the ground and stopped. 

 Deputy Rivera said Cpl Lewis of the Weber County Sheriff’s Office arrived on scene about that 

time. Deputy Rivera said he held lethal coverage on the suspect while Cpl Lewis handcuffed the suspect 

on the ground. 

 After the suspect was secured, Deputy Rivera explained that there had been information from 

the caller that there could be two suspects in the trailer. Deputy Rivera and Cpl Rivera then advanced 

towards the trailer and cleared it of anyone else. Deputy Rivera said both doors of the trailer were open. 

 After searching the immediate area around the home, contact was made with the homeowner 

who were also the 911 callers. They were spoken with through a window and were asked to come 

outside. Deputy Rivera said the inside of the house was then cleared as well. No other suspects were 

found. Deputy Rivera said he stayed on scene until another deputy transported him to the Weber Fire 

Station where he stayed. 

 I then asked Deputy Rivera about stopping short of the residence and waiting for backup to 

arrive and hearing the shots come from the residence. I asked Deputy Rivera how that made him feel. 

Deputy Rivera said he was worried about what the person was shooting at and feared for the residents 

who lived there and anyone else in the area. Deputy Rivera said he was also concerned for himself 

because he knew he was going in. 

 I asked about when Deputy Rivera saw the suspect’s feet and asked if he made any call out to 

him. Deputy Rivera said he yelled commands for the person to come out with his hands up. 

 I asked Deputy Rivera if he called out to the suspect when he saw the gun. Deputy Rivera said he 

recalled yelling multiple times for the suspect to “drop the gun”. I then asked Deputy Rivera if he 

remembered the positioning of the gun. Deputy Rivera said the gun was pointed down when he first 

saw it and then the suspect looked right at him and started to run towards him. Deputy Rivera raised his 

weapon and found the front sight as the male continued to advance. 



 I asked Deputy Rivera how he felt at that moment. Deputy Rivera said he felt that if he did not 

take action, that this person was going to try and kill him. Deputy Rivera said he feared for his life. 

 I asked Deputy Rivera about when the suspect looked at him as he came out from behind the 

trailer. Deputy Rivera described it as the “1000 yard stare” that he had been trained about. Deputy 

Rivera commented that the suspect’s face had no emotion and he said nothing as he rushed towards 

him. 

 I then asked Deputy Rivera if he had any prior experience of persons who exhibited this “1000 

yard stare”. Deputy Rivera said he had and it was with persons who were under the influence of drugs 

and alcohol or were having mental issues which made them extremely unpredictable.  

 I inquired about the first two shots that Deputy Rivera had made and about the reassessment. 

Deputy Rivera said he looked up and could see the suspect was still advancing and went back to the 

front sights of the rifle and fired again. I asked Deputy Rivera if he felt at that point that if he did not 

take immediate action that the suspect was going to kill him. Deputy Rivera said yes. Deputy Rivera also 

added that because the suspect did not stop after the first two shots and was still advancing that the 

suspect was determined to reach Deputy Rivera. 

 I asked Deputy Rivera about how long he had worked in the upper valley area and also if he had 

prior contact with Cody Hadley. Deputy Rivera said he had worked the upper valley when he first 

graduated from FTO but had then been moved to the lower valley. Deputy Rivera said he had just 

recently been moved back to the assigned upper valley deputy. Deputy Rivera said he had one prior 

encounter with Hadley when his father passed away in Huntsville two years ago. Deputy Rivera said he 

responded to the house but it was an attended death and he did not have to stay long. Deputy Rivera 

said he did not recognize Hadley at the scene. 

 I asked Deputy Rivera if he knew where Sgt Tillet was at the time this was happening. Deputy 

Rivera said he knew that Sgt Tillet was at about a ninety degree angle to his right. I asked if he knew 

what Sgt Tillet was doing during the incident. Deputy Rivera said he remembered Sgt Tillet calling out to 

the suspect and yelling commands to come out and show his hands. 

 At this point Deputy Rivera was shown the footage from his dash camera. I then asked Deputy 

Rivera if anything was different from how he recalled this incident. Deputy Rivera said he saw that he 

turned off his emergency lights before he arrived in the area and he didn’t recall that. Deputy Rivera said 

he also saw how after he fired his weapon and the suspect went down that he started calling out to any 

other person in the trailer to come out and he hadn’t remembered that until he saw it. 

 I pointed out that one thing that I had observed and asked him about was the positioning of 

Hadley’s weapon and how he did not see Hadley raise the weapon with two hands in a shooting position 

towards him. Deputy Rivera agreed that he had not seen this but it was during the time that he was 

focusing on his front sight as Hadley was running towards him. 

 At this point that interview was ended. 

 

 



Cody Hadley 
DOB:  

 
2007- Arrested in North Ogden for Theft. (Convicted) 
2015- Arrested in Ogden for Aggravated Assault, Disorderly conduct and intoxication. (Plead to 
Disorderly Conduct) 
2015- Arrested in Ogden for Felony fleeing, Reckless driving, and Failing to stop. (Plead to misdemeanor 
Failing to stop) 
2015- Arrested Weber County for violation of protective order. (Dismissed) 
2016- Arrested for Felony Fleeing in Box Elder County. (Plead to misdemeanor Failing to stop)  
 
 In 2015 arrest for aggravated assault, law enforcement responded when a neighbor to Hadley 

called 911 and said Hadley had repeatedly came to their door looking for his wife and believed she was 

inside the residence cheating on him. Hadley was under the influence of methamphetamine and 

threatened the occupants with a hammer. 

 According to family members, Hadley had not used meth since 2015 but recently had a relapse. 



Farro 3D scans 

 The following is an examination of images taken using a 3D scanning device. CSI scanned the 

crime scene area on the night of the shooting to get an accurate account of measurements. I used the 

images of the 3D scans and also still frame footage from the body camera and dash camera footage. I 

have been able to determine distances by using markings from the trailers, vehicles, and roadways. 

 

#1- 54.168 feet. Approximate Distance from where Deputy Rivera was standing to Hadley when he came 

out from behind the enclosed trailer and started towards Deputy Rivera.

 

 

 

 
 



#2- 88.683 feet. Approximate distance Sgt Tillet was firing at Hadley. 

 

#3- 20.848 ft and 24.559 ft. Approximate distance Hadley’s weapon was from Deputy Rivera and the 

approximate distance Hadley was from Deputy Rivera when the fatal rounds were fired. 

 



Medical Examiner Final Report 

 On 02-16-21, I received the final report from the Office of the Medical Examiner for Cody 

Hadley. Doctor Brent Davis lists the manner of death as homicide and the immediate cause of death is 

multiple gunshot wounds. 

 The toxicology for Hadley, postmortem, femoral blood showed positive for 859 ng/ml of 

methamphetamine. It has been shown in studies that psychosis is common in a blood levels of 150 to 

500 ng/ml. 

 

 

 

Conclusion 

 On October 23rd 2020, it is documented that Shannon and Richard Hansen were inside their 

residence of , when they heard gunshots coming from just outside their home. 

Shannon called 911 after they both observed a male outside of their home attempting to enter their 

travel trailer that was parked in their driveway in front of their house. Shannon also reported to dispatch 

that the male had a gun and was climbing on top of the trailer claiming someone else was inside of it 

with his wife. 

 Deputy Caleb Rivera of the Weber County Sheriff’s Office was on duty and assigned to patrol the 

upper valley area. Deputy Rivera was dispatched to respond to this address. Deputy Rivera was in the 

Eden area and as documented on his vehicle’s dashboard camera, responded to Huntsville using 

emergency lights and siren and then stopped and parked his vehicle at  and waited for a 

backup deputy to arrive before approaching the scene. 

 Sgt Craig Tillet of the Morgan County Sheriff’s Office, was on duty and was patrolling the Mt 

Green area. Weber County and Morgan County share the same frequency on the law enforcement 

radio, so Sgt Tillet heard the original call come across the radio and that Deputy Rivera was enroute. Sgt 

Tillet stated in his interview that backup for Deputy Rivera was coming from the lower valley and Tillet 

was near Trappers Loop Road that connects the two counties and could be there significantly sooner. 

Sgt Tillet advised dispatch that he would be responding and as documented from his vehicle’s dash 

camera, Sgt Tillet activated his emergency lights and siren and drove over the Trappers Loop mountain 

pass and arrived in Huntsville and joined Deputy Rivera at  

 While waiting for Sgt Tillet to arrive, Deputy Rivera deployed his AR 15 rifle. As captured by his 

dash camera video, shots can be heard in the distance and Deputy Rivera is heard relaying this 

information to dispatch. On the recorded 911 phone call, shots can also be heard being fired outside of 

the Hansen’s residence and Shannon expresses to the dispatcher that the shots had been fired. Dispatch 

confirms to Deputy Rivera that the shots that he heard were coming from this location. 



 Sgt Tillet arrives on scene and pulls up behind Deputy Rivera who then starts driving towards the 

Hansen’s residence by route of southbound on , Sgt Tillet follows. 

  The Hansen’s residence is on the northwest corner of  As Deputy Rivera arrived, 

he made a U-turn putting his headlights and overhead takedown lights onto the trailer that was parked 

in the half circle driveway that was in front of the residence. Sgt Tillet stopped just north of the 

residence and pulls over on the west side of  The trailer is visible on Sgt Tillet’s dash camera 

along with Deputy Rivera’s vehicle on the other side. Sgt Tillet exits his vehicle and starts shining lights 

on the backside of the trailer. 

 The trailer door on the south side towards Deputy Rivera was open and lights appeared to be on 

inside. Deputy Rivera starts to make announcements toward the trailer, commanding anyone inside to 

exit the trailer. Deputy Rivera and Sgt Tillet converse between them that neither see anyone. 

 Both Sgt Tillet and Deputy Rivera both acknowledge out loud that they see a set of feet moving 

between the travel trailer and an enclosed trailer that is parked parallel to the travel trailer on the south 

side. The set of feet are visible on both dash cameras video footage. Deputy Rivera calls out to the 

person to come out and show them their hands. 

 The feet stop moving for a moment and then begin moving forward. A white male emerges out 

from between the trailer wearing gym type shorts but no shirt. Both Deputy Rivera and Sgt Tillet 

observe a handgun in the male’s hand as he starts to run towards Deputy Rivera. Deputy Rivera yells, 

“drop the gun!” 

 As the male is advancing towards Deputy Rivera, both his arms come forward into a shooting 

position and the handgun is pointed at Deputy Rivera.  

 Deputy Rivera fired his rifle twice. The male stopped and exposed his chest to Deputy Rivera and 

then moved in a jumping motion to his right. The gun was still in his right hand. Deputy Rivera fired five 

more times. The male then fell to the ground on the front lawn of the residence. 

 In this same time frame, Sgt Tillet saw the male come out from between the trailers and start to 

run towards Deputy Rivera. Sgt Tillet fired his 40 caliber Glock handgun at the male five times. 

 

 

Deputy Rivera 

Deputy Rivera said he deployed his AR 15 patrol rifle after he stopped short of the residence and 

was waiting for backup to arrive. Dispatch had advised Deputy Rivera that shots had been fired at the 

residence and he heard the two shots coming from the direction of the house while waiting for backup 

When Sgt Tillet arrived, they both proceeded to drive to the residence and Deputy Rivera put his 

lights on the south side of the trailer and could see a door was open inside the trailer. Deputy Rivera 

started yelling out, announcing that it was law enforcement to anyone inside the trailer. A pair of feet 

were seen by Deputy Rivera and he started shouting commands for that person to come out with their 

hands up. A male emerged and started charging towards Deputy Rivera. 



 In his interview, Deputy Rivera stated he saw the handgun in the male’s hand as he was quickly 

advancing towards him. Deputy Rivera said he fired his rifle when he felt his life was in danger and that 

if he didn’t, he would be killed. 

 In review of the video footage from both the body camera and dash cameras, from the time that 

Cody Hadley appeared from between the trailers and when the last shot was fired was approximately six 

seconds. In those six seconds, Deputy Rivera yelled, “drop the gun”, three times and fired seven times 

with his AR 15.  

 

Sgt Tillet 

 Sgt Tillet arrived to where Deputy Rivera had staged just northeast of the residence and then 

followed him to the scene. Sgt Tillet parked his patrol vehicle on the west side of  just north of the 

residence and could see the back side of the travel trailer as he shined his lights on it. Sgt Tillet had his 

40 caliber Glock handgun out as he had heard on the radio that shots had been fired at the scene. 

 Sgt Tillet saw a pair of feet emerge from between the two trailers and announced this 

knowledge to Deputy Rivera.  

 In his interview, Sgt Tillet said he saw a male emerge from between the trailers and clearly 

observed that this person had a gun in his hand. This male was now charging towards Deputy Rivera 

with what Sgt Tillet believed to be the intent of harming or killing Deputy Rivera. At that point, Sgt Tillet 

believed that he needed to take immediate action in defense of Deputy Rivera’s life and also believed 

that if he did not, Deputy Rivera would be killed. Sgt Tillet fired five times with his 40 caliber handgun. 

 In review of Sgt Tillet’s body camera, he yelled “hands up” to Hadley when he first observed him 

and then announced, “Gun” to try and warn Deputy Rivera what he was seeing when Hadley started to 

advance. 

 

 

Cody Hadley 

 Cody Hadley lived just northwest of the Hansen’s address and left his residence with a handgun 

thinking that his wife’s lover was sneaking around the area. Hadley was in a drug psychosis from 

snorting methamphetamine and was hallucinating. Hadley believed that his wife’s lover was inside the 

Hansen’s travel trailer and fired eight 40 caliber bullets into the trailer. Hadley had a history of 

aggression and hallucination while under the influence of methamphetamine.  

 In the video footage, it is clear that Hadley emerged from between the two trailers and ran 

towards Deputy Rivera with a gun in his right hand. As he is advancing, Hadley brings both his arms 

together in a shooting position and points the handgun directly at Deputy Rivera. 

  



Hadley was struck once in the face and once in the neck by .223 rounds both would be 

considered fatal. Hadley was also struck in the bottom of the right bicep which traveled through the 

flesh and exited. It was undetermined the caliber of bullet that struck this area and was not fatal. 

 In the toxicology, Hadley’s blood showed positive for 859 ng/ml of methamphetamine. 

 

All of these factors should be considered in making a determination whether Deputy Caleb and Sgt Craig 

Tillet were justified in using deadly force.  

 

 

 

Steve Haney  
Investigator  
Weber County Attorney’s Office  

 

 




